IN THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT

CAUSE NUMBER 2007-WC-00346

NHAN NEILL

APPELLANT

VERSUS

WATERWAY, INC./TEAM AMERICA and TENNESSEE INSURANCE GUARANTY FUND (for the now insolvent LEGION INSURANCE COMPANY)

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Respectfully submitted by: Austin R. Nimocks, Esquire
Mississippi Bar Number

Austin R. Nimocks & Associates, P.L.L.C.

Post Office Box 8025

Biloxi, Mississippi 39535

Telephone: (228) 435-2500 Telecopier: (228) 435-5035

E-Mail: animocks@animocks.com

K. Don Bishop, Esquire*
Tennessee Bar Number

Bishop Law Firm Post Office Box 10965 Jackson, Tennessee 38308 Telephone: (731) 256-0100

Telecopier: (731) 212-4699

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

In light of the errors occurring below, the Appellant respectfully brings its appeal to this Honorable Court and asserts the following points of error:

WHERE THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER HAVE NO WITNESSES, THE CIRCUIT JUDGE ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT NHAN IS PERMANENTLY TOTALLY DISABLED.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Facts and Procedural History

This case involves a thirty (30) year old man injured beyond his physical and vocational capabilities. The unrefuted testimony and evidence presented on behalf of the Claimant, Nhan Neill, demonstrates that his unfortunate bi-lateral injuries will forever prevent him from working again.

On April 12, 2001, Nhan Neill (hereinafter "Nhan"), a normal, healthy thirty (30) year old man, was performing his usual duties as Laborer for Waterway, Inc./Team America. Throughout his life to that point, Nhan had only been able to perform medial, labor-intensive jobs¹ as he possessed only an IQ of 75—borderline, mild, mentally retarded range. (Tr. at 73). Nhan speaks with broken English, reads between the 3rd and 4th grade levels and spells at the 6th grade level, so his opportunities for employment are vastly limited. (Tr. at 72, 74). This is especially so given the small communities in which he lived (Savannah, TN) and worked (Iuka, MS). As this Court is well aware, those communities and counties possess little industry and few employment opportunities.

When he started to work for Waterway, and continuing to the date of his injury, Nhan did not have a history of prior operations, chronic medical problems, or allergies.² Nhan worked without any medical difficulty until April 12, 2001, which was several months following Waterway's product production change requiring Nhan, and one co-worker, to lift molded plastic units weighing about three hundred (300) pounds each, fasten them to a frame by "hand squeezing" them into place utilizing and awkward process requiring stretching, reaching, and very strong gripping action. (Tr. at 13-17). Thereafter, Nhan would assemble lights from an assortment of component parts and then

¹ Before his injury, Nhan worked bagging groceries, landscaping, fixing mobile home bathtubs, helping an electrician, stocking, and repairing swimming pool/water slide fiberglass parts. (Tr. at 8-12).

² Nhan's pre-Waterway employment history lasted about fourteen (14) years. He once had a minor pulled muscle which resulted in no claims. (Tr. at 10). Otherwise, Nhan never had any problems with his hands or wrists before April 21, 2001. (Tr. at 31, 59-60).

installing the lights on each unit all of which required using hand tools requiring delicate and awkward finger, hand, wrist, and arm actions. (Tr. at 17-20). This is a process that Nhan was required to perform fourteen (14) times per day. (Tr. at 20-21, 22). Finally, after several months of this repeat manual process, on April 12, 2001 Nhan's right hand "froze up" and he had to have help to remove it from the unit he was working on and to pry the tool he was using from his hand. (Tr. at 22-23).

After Nhan's injury, the Employer & Carrier provided medical treatment, but when conventional conservative treatment failed, Nhan was referred to Dr. Fraser who diagnosed Nhan as suffering from bilateral carpal tunnel syndrome, worse on the right than the left. Dr. Fraser recognized and reported Nhan's carpal tunnel syndrome was only part of his hand and wrist "overuse syndrome" and that carpal tunnel surgery would not solve all of his problems. In the medical work-up leading to surgery, Dr. Fraser noticed Nhan had dermatitis symptoms on his hands and wrists. Surgery was postponed until these symptoms could be controlled. (Exhibit 3).

Dr. Mallette, an allergist, was brought in to treat the dermatitis symptoms. Dr. Mallette concluded Nhan's rash problem was hand eczema. (See Exhibit 7 at pp. 8, 9). Eczema is a condition that frequently causes a person to be unable to use their hands. (Exhibit 7 at p. 12). "It is debilitating because the hands will crack, peel, they can bleed and swell...." (Exhibit 7 at p. 12). Dr. Mallette prescribed a regiment of treatment that helped control the condition and make surgery possible.

Dr. Fraser elected to do the left carpal tunnel surgery in late June 2001. (Exhibit 3). By early August 2001, Dr. Fraser noted that Nhan was still recovering from that surgery, but complaining of stinging when gripping with the left hand. (Exhibit 3). Later in August 2001, the right carpal tunnel surgery was performed. Dr. Fraser noted in late September 2001 that Nhan still complained of "stinging" and "itching" and, by late October 2001, Nhan complained of pain in both hands and wrist

causing Nhan to be "... stressed out and going crazy." (Exhibit 3) In November 2001, Dr. Fraser referred Mr. Neill to a rheumatologist to determine the underlying problem. (Exhibit 3).

In February 2002, though he was still having several problems, the Employer & Carrier referred Nhan to Dr. Cunningham to obtain a rating. (Exhibit 4). Dr. Cunningham concluded Nhan had reached maximum medical improvement, had suffered permanent medical impairment of eleven (11%) percent to the body, and could return to work subject to work restrictions "... of light duty work with no highly repetitive motion in both hands." (Exhibit 4). Nhan returned to work on a test basis and his unrefuted testimony was that Waterway ignored Dr. Cunningham's restrictions and had him doing the same work he was doing before his April 12, 2001 injury, except he was not having to do the heavy lifting of the molded plastic units. (Tr. at 26). Both Nhan and his spouse, Tabitha, testified this work caused his hands to flame up, swell, and blister so badly that he could not continue to work. (Tr. at 26, 61).

Dr. Fraser, on April 26, 2002, noted Nhan had tried unsuccessfully to return to work about a year after his injury. Dr. Fraser concluded Nhan's residual symptoms were not attributable to the carpal tunnel surgery he had performed (apparently being related to "overuse syndrome" he previously diagnosed during the initial 4/23/01 office visit). On June 3, 2002, Dr. Fraser found Nhan's hands to be tender with complaints of swelling and itching and concluded there was nothing to offer him form a neurosurgical standpoint. He prescribed medication, including steroid cream for his hands. (Exhibit 3). Thus, the problems with Nhan's hands continued.

On June 20, 2002, Nhan saw Dr. Melson, an orthopedic surgeon and another physician that the Employer & Carrier referred him to see. (Exhibit 2). Dr. Melson concluded Nhan needed to see a rheumatologist to determine the cause of his synovitis stating that "... if it is a medical condition I think then possibly he could be treated and be sent back to work. If it is that he has developed a

synovitis, swelling and stiffness because of his work that seems to be chronic now, then probably he will not be able to go back to the same work." (Exhibit 2). Thus, the medical profession was finally starting to realize that Nhan may not be able to return to work.

On July 25, 2002 Dr. Fraser reported that Nhan's second attempt to return to "light duty" work made his hands swell and break. (Exhibit 3). Thus, he held him off work until he saw yet another rheumatologist and dermatologist. Thereafter, according to unrefuted testimony by Nhan, he has never been able to return to any work.³ (Tr. at 30). Nhan and Tabitha, his wife, also provided unrefuted testimony that routine daily activities, such as the following, sets off episodes of pain, itching, and blistering:

- 1. Exposure to washing dishes without protective gloves.
- 2. Running a vacuum cleaner.
- 3. Activities requiring use of his hands such as driving a car.
- 4. Yard work.
- 5. Trying to play with his children.
- 6. Weather changes.
- 7. Sometimes no apparent reason at all.

(Tr. at 30-31, 35, 59-60). Moreover, getting restful sleep for Nhan is sometime impossible, even with the medication. (Tr. at 37). He has to apply hot wax as a daily routine to relieve itching and testified he continues to see Dr. Fuchs and Dr. Mellette on a scheduled basis and this will be required into the future. Dr. Fuchs prescribed gloves for Nhan and he wears them constantly. (Tr. at 32-33, 62).

Supporting Nhan's unrefuted conclusion that he can no longer work, Dr. Mallette testified that carpal tunnel surgery was a primary trigger that brought the hand eczema out or initially caused it. (Exhibit 7 at p. 9). Dr. Mallette testified that once hand eczema is triggered, it continues on spontaneously. (Exhibit 7 at p. 12). According to Dr. Mallette, Nhan's eczema is with him about

Ninety (90%) percent of time and it is not likely to ever resolve itself and the odds are he will have to live with it the rest of his life. (Exhibit 7 at p. 10). An episode of eczema will start with itching, then little red bumps, then blisters, then busted blisters, then intense itching at all times, then blisters dry up and then it is time for another cycle to start again. (Exhibit 7 at pp. 11-12). Hand eczema is debilitating because the hands will crack, peel, bleed, swell, and cause a person to be unable to use their hands. (Exhibit 7 at p. 12-13). Basically, Dr. Mallette said he is just treating Nhan's eczema symptoms and all that can be done at these appointments is to renew his medications and, from time to time, prescribe new ones as they become available. (Exhibit 7 at p. 16).

Dr. Fuchs, a Vanderbilt Hospital physician specializing in rheumatology, started treating Nhan in September 2002 and continues as a treating physician. Dr. Fuchs testified by deposition and concluded that the type of labor-intensive work that Nhan did is the kind of work that triggers reflex-sympathetic-dystrophy (RSD). Nhan's RSD caused swelling and that swelling caused his carpal tunnel syndrome. Nhan has reached maximum medical improvement, but because Nhan has very sensitive palms he is unable to really do manipulatives with his hands. He even has problems holding on to a pen and writing and he would have difficulties doing near most anything with his hands. Mr. Neill can not really file papers with his hands, he can not write with his hands, he probably could not tolerate typing either and heavier work is probably more of a problem in that he will end up having trouble with his grip strength and holding on to objects. (Exhibit 5).

Dr. Boals, orthopedic surgeon, saw Nhan on two occasions at the request of Nhan's attorney, K. Don Bishop, for the purpose of rendering an opinion as to Nhan's medical impairment. He opined a permanent anatomical impairment of Twenty (20%) percent to each upper extremity; recommended work restrictions of light, sedentary jobs, avoiding repetition and heavy griping because of Nhan's

³ Nhan's previously described good faith attempt to return to work at Waterway is the only work he has performed since

"overuse syndrome" residuals; thought work in a labor intensive situation would be very bad. Nhan has a type of skin problem associated with the injuries he experienced and, though it would be good if Nhan could find work within the stated work restrictions, he did not know if such work would be available in Nhan's injured condition. (Exhibit 8).

Finally, and most importantly, Dr. Kennon (Ph.D.), a psychological and vocational expert, saw Nhan on February 12, 2003 and August 13, 2004 and testified at trial. (Tr. at 64-98). Based on his tests and evaluations of Nhan, Dr. Kennon testified that he is in the lower five (5%) percent range of his age group for intelligence (IQ) and academics ability. (Tr. at 73). As previously mentioned, Dr. Kennon established that Nhan reads at a third (3rd) or fourth (4th) grade level, spells at a sixth (6th) grade level, and does math at an eighth (8th) grade level. Dr. Kennon also established that Nhan was not malingering, tested way below the level considered normal for manual hand and finger dexterity, and that Nhan suffered from RSD related to his work injury. (Tr. at 74-75, 86-87). Considering all of this, Dr. Kennon opined that Nhan cannot work and earn wages ever. (Tr. at 91-92). On cross examination, Dr. Kennon conclusively confirmed that Nhan could not even perform the simplest work of a Wal-Mart greeter.

April 12, 2001. (Tr. at 27).

⁴ Aside from calling no witnesses of their own, the Employer & Carrier's cross-examination of Dr. Kennon lasted only six (6) pages and neither challenged nor undermined any of Dr. Kennon's conclusions. (Tr. at 93-98).

⁵ The end of Dr. Kennon's cross-examination, confirming that Nhan cannot work as a Wal-Mart greeter, clearly underscores what this case is all about—Nhan Neill is permanently totally disabled and deserves to be compensated accordingly. The final transaction with Dr. Kennon is worth duplicating, and went as follows:

Q. So your opinion is he couldn't even do something as – as simple as perhaps a person that greets at Wal-Mart? He can't do something like that?

A. Well, the issue is – is whether he can sustain that related to pain. I think another issue is is [sic] whether Wal-Mart while he's on Darvon pain medication. I think another issue is is [sic] his consistency of being able to drive to work and get there and – and deal with his pain features while at work and how does he go about doing that. And if they have other duties for him like most greeters, which may include moving carts, stacking them. Those are going to be problematic, I think, for Mr. Neill. I thought of that too, and I – you know, I've looked at all the proverbial gate guard, security guard, what he might be able to do. And – and in his current status, I'm not convinced that he's – he going to be able to do that. But I'm even less convinced that he could get hired doing that. (Tr. at 98).

The Employer & Carrier offered no proof, witnesses, or argument to refute Dr. Kennon's vocational and psychological testimony. Moreover, the Employer & Carrier offered only one piece of evidence—a one-page report from a Rehabilitation Specialist who never talked to or met with Nhan. (Exhibit 12). Of course, this evidence was worthless since the opinions contained within it were contingent upon "no further medical complications [developing] during the interim." (Exhibit 12). Clearly, "further medical complications" did develop and continue to this date.

Yet, without any rational basis or explanation in her opinion, the Administrative Judge concluded that Nhan sustained only a 60% loss of industrial use to the right and left upper extremities. (MWCC at 429). On review by the full Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, the findings of facts and conclusions of law by the Administrative Judge were affirmed, but not unanimously. In a separate, written opinion, utilizing the appropriate legal standard, Commissioner Schoby concluded that Nhan was entitled to 450 weeks of benefits for permanent total disability.⁷

On appeal to the Circuit Court of Tishomingo County, though he affirmed the conclusion of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, Judge Gardner expressed reservations about whether the Workers' Compensation Commission got it right. Nhan now appeals to this Honorable

⁶ The Employer & Carrier's offer of no proof or argument has continued throughout the appeal of this matter. The Employer & Carrier did not submit a brief to the full Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission. On appeal to the Circuit Court of Tishomingo County, the Employer & Carrier also did not submit a brief.

⁷ In point of fact, Commissioner Schoby was the first and only jurist throughout this matter to mention or employ the proper legal standard. Moreover, as this Court is well aware:

Where an employee suffers an injury covered by the schedule in <u>Section 71-3-17(c)</u> and where that injury results in a permanent loss of wage earning capacity within <u>Section 71-3-17(a)</u>, the latter section controls exclusively and the employee is not limited to the number of weeks of compensation prescribed in <u>Section 71-3-17(c)</u>'s schedule. To this limited extent *M.T. Reed* stands overruled. Only insofar as they may be found inconsistent with today's holding, *Walker Manufacturing, Richey, Lucedale Veneer, Luker, Nowlin,* and <u>Modern Laundry, Inc. v. Williams, 224 Miss. 174, 79 So.2d 829 (1955)</u>, stand modified.

Smith v. Jackson Constr. Co., 607 So. 2d 1119, 1128 (Miss. 1992).

⁸ Judge Gardner felt constrained to affirm the findings of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission "even though the evidence might convince this Court otherwise if this Court were the fact finder." (C.P. at 7). Thus, now a

Court insistent that the decision by the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission was in
error and not supported by substantial evidence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

WHERE THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER HAVE NO WITNESSES, THE CIRCUIT JUDGE ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT NHAN IS PERMANENTLY TOTALLY DISABLED.

Nhan Neill, a resident of Savannah, TN (pop. 7,248)⁹ and Hardin County, TN (pop. 26,089),¹⁰ became permanently totally disabled as a result of work-related injuries. Nhan provided unrefuted testimony about his attempts to return to work and his inability to return to work. Nhan's testimony was supported, not only by his medical providers, but also by the unrefuted testimony of Dr. Robert W. Kennon, and psychologist and vocational expert who testified live at the trial.

The Employer & Carrier called no witnesses at trial. The Employer & Carrier offered no evidence to impeach Nhan or challenge the opinions of Dr. Kennon. Yet, contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, and without any explanation, the Administrative Judge concluded that Nhan suffered only a 60% loss of industrial use to his upper extremities. All of the evidence presented in this case, which necessarily includes the overwhelming weight of the evidence, clearly establishes that Nhan is permanently totally disabled and he should be awarded 450 weeks of permanent total disability compensation.

⁹ http://www.city-data.com/city/Savannah-Tennessee.html

¹⁰ http://www.2.tnecd.net/prospect/comdatarpt.asp?id=Savannah

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In appeals originating from the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission, it is recognized that the Commission is the ultimate finder of fact and, upon review, this Court will generally apply a deferential standard of review. *McCarty Farms, Inc. v. Kelly*, 811 So. 2d 250, 253 (Miss. App. 2001) (citation omitted). The findings of the Commission will be reversed where the findings are clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *McCarty*, 811 So. 2d at 253 (citation omitted). Here, where the Employer and Carrier offered no witnesses, the findings of the Commission are clearly erroneous and contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence and should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

WHERE THE EMPLOYER AND CARRIER HAVE NO WITNESSES, THE CIRCUIT JUDGE ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE DECISION OF THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION.

THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE SHOWS THAT NHAN IS PERMANENTLY TOTALLY DISABLED.

The controlling law in the case *sub judice* is provided in *Weatherspoon v. Croft Metals, Inc.*, 853 So. 2d 776 (Miss. 2003). Moreover, the medical facts of *Weatherspoon* are almost identical to those presented in this matter. This precedent was ignored by all but Commissioner Schoby.

In *Weatherspoon*, the Claimant was a production worker who, as a result of her employment, developed bi-lateral injuries to her upper extremities. *Weatherspoon*, 853 So. 2d at 777. Following bi-lateral surgeries, the Claimant was assigned a 10% PPI to each upper extremity, along with permanent activity restrictions, all of which prevented her from returning to her duties with the Employer. *Id.* In the instant case, Nhan Neill was a production worker¹¹ who, as a result of his

¹¹ Notably, Mr. Neill's production work was much more labor-intensive than that of Weatherspoon. Before his April 12,

employment, developed bi-lateral injuries to his upper extremities. Mr. Neill received surgery on both of his upper extremities (Tr. at 69), resulting in a 20% PPI to each upper extremity, along with multiple permanent activity restrictions.¹² (Exhibit 8 at 9-11). This is twice the impairment rating received by the Claimant in *Weatherspoon*. Mr. Neill's injuries also prevent him from returning to his work with the Employer.¹³ (Exhibit 8 at 11; Exhibit 4 at 21-22).

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