# STATE OF MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT CAUSE NUMBER 2007-WC-00346

**NEHAN T. NEILL** 

**APPELLANT** 

**VERSUS** 

WATERWAY INC./TEAM AMERICA and LEGION INS. COMPANY'S SUCCESSOR, TENNESSEE INSURANCE GUARANTY FUND

**APPELLEES** 

#### **BRIEF OF THE APPELLEES**

Respectfully submitted by:

William R. Bradley, Jr., Esquire

Glankler Brown, PLLC

1700 One Commerce Square Memphis, Tennessee 38103

(901) 525-1322

Mississippi Bar No.

ATTORNEY FOR THE APPELLEES

# **

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. In his appellate brief, Neill inaccurately recounts the rulings of the circuit judge and the administrative law judge are inaccurate, as well as the substance of Waterway's proof.

It is first necessary to point out several wholly inaccurate assertions made by Neill in his brief to this Court. First, Neill maintains that the circuit judge had "reservations" about affirming the Commission's ruling. (Appellant's Brief, p. 8). This is not accurate. The judge merely recited the applicable legal standard that "this Court is bound by those findings and orders of the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission which are supported by substantial evidence. This is so, even though the evidence might convince the Court otherwise if this Court were the fact finder." (R. Vol. 1, p. 7). Nothing in the record suggests that the Circuit Judge disagreed with the Commission's findings. Neill further incorrectly maintains that the Administrative Law Judge failed to mention "even once" in her opinion the testimony, or even the presence at trial, of Neill's vocational expert, Dr. Kennon. (Appellant's Brief, p. 13). In truth, the Administrative Law Judge discussed Dr. Kennon's testimony and credentials at length in pages 6 through 7 of her opinion. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 419-420; R.E. Tab 1).

Neill also wrongfully asserts that Waterway offered no proof when, in fact, the Waterway relied on deposition testimony and Neill's medical records to rebut Neill's position that he could never work again as a result of his alleged injuries suffered while working for the employer.

Most significantly, Neill completely distorts Dr. Mallette's testimony regarding the cause of his hand eczema condition. Although Neill states that the carpel tunnel surgery initially caused the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is almost a direct quote from Smith v. Durant Electric Corporation, 918 So. 2d 860, 863 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006) ("This is so, even if the evidence would convince the Court otherwise, were we the fact finder")

condition, Dr. Mallette actually testified that he had no opinion on what caused the condition but that the current outbreaks of the hand eczema were not the result of the carpel tunnel surgery.

(Exhibit 5, p. 14, L. 3; R.E. Tab 9). The proof was that Neill had outbreaks before the surgery.

Notwithstanding Neill's protestations, substantial evidence supports the Commission's findings. There was conflicting evidence as to Neill's medical impairment with the greatest anatomical rating being assessed by a paid expert at 20% to each upper extremity. As to whether Neill was totally disabled, the proof conflicted. Although Neill's vocational expert opined that he suffered a total loss of wage-earning capacity, Neill's treating physician and another one of the Neill's experts concluded that he was or would be able to work.

- II. The circuit court did not err in affirming the decision of the Full Commission awarding Neill benefits for permanent partial disability.
- III. Substantial evidence supports the decisions of the administrative law judge, the Full Commission and the Circuit Court of Toshimingo County that Neill is permanently partially disabled.

The Administrative Law Judge and the Full Commission concluded that Neill suffered a 60% loss of industrial use of both his right and left upper extremity. Neill maintains that the trial court erred in affirming the decision of the Commission denying him permanent full disability benefits.

A worker who receives a permanent functional impairment is guaranteed some measure of compensation. Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-17(c) (Rev. 2000). The upper extremity is included as a scheduled member. *Id.* The measure of compensation in a scheduled member case depends on two factors: (i) the degree of functional loss of use as demonstrated by the medical evidence, usually expressed as a percentage, and (ii) the impact the loss of function has on the worker's ability to perform and customary duties associated with his usual employment. *Smith v. Jackson Const. Co.*, 607 So. 2d 1119, 1128 (Miss. 1992). The first aspect of disability of determination is

known as functional disability, and the second aspect of disability of determination is known as industrial disability. *Robertson v. Packard Elec. Div., General Motors Corp.*, 523, So. 2d 329, 331 (Miss. 1988).

The permanently injured worker is entitled to compensation based on the greater of the percentage of the functional disability or the percentage of the industrial disability. *Smith*, 607 So. 2d at 1127. Where the claimant wishes to prove total occupational loss, the claimant bears the burden of proving that he sought and been unable to find work "in the same or other employment." *Jordan v. Hercules, Inc.* 600 So. 2d 179, 183 (Miss. 1992) (quoting Miss. Code Ann. §71-3-3(I) (Rev. 2000)).

The facts in this case, not unlike others, involve a situation where the medical proof as to anatomical impairment is conflicting. One of Neill's treating physicians concluded that, after reaching maximum medical improvement, Neill suffered an 8% permanent impairment to his left upper extremity and a 10% permanent impairment to his right upper extremity. The expert hired by the Neill, Dr. Boals, concluded that Neill suffered a 20% permanent impairment to both extremities. Dr. Boals' practice largely consists of evaluating claimants and giving testimony on their behalf. The Workers' Compensation Commission was entitled to favor the testimony of a treating physician over a physical who has seen the claimant for the purpose of testifying. *South Central Bell Telephone Co. v. Adain*, 474 So. 2d. 584, 593 (Miss. 1985).

The expert evidence also conflicted as to whether Neill was totally and permanently disabled. Dr. Kennon, Neill's vocation expert, testified that Neill was permanently and totally disabled. (R. Vol. 5, p. 90-91; R.E. Tab 5). Dr. Cunningham concluded that Neill was able to return to work with restrictions of light capacity work. (Exhibit CL 4 at CPM-21; R.E. Tab 6). Dr. Joseph Boals, who was hired as an expert witness by Neill to give testimony in the

proceeding, found that he could work and should work with restrictions. (R. Vol. 2, p. 40; R.E. Tab 11).

Dr. Boals testified that he had evaluated thousands of carpal-tunnel patients. (Exhibit CL 8, p. 16, L. 19-21; R.E. Tab 8). Dr. Boals testified that the usual anatomical impairments would be approximately 10%. (Exhibit CL 8, p. 16, L. 3-5; R.E. Tab 8). He concluded that Neill's excessive grip loss warranted a higher rating of 20%. (Exhibit CL 8, p. 17, L. 6; R.E. Tab 8). Dr. Boals testified that he had evaluated patients with greater impairments than Neill. Neill maintains that he has never been able to return to any work. Yet, Dr. Boals gave the following testimony in 2003, long after Neill walked off the job at Waterway:

Question: Is there any reason in your opinion that this man should not be able to

work at all?

Answer: No. He should be able to work. He just needs to meet those restrictions

and be careful. This is a young guy. He needs to work. He needs to find something, and he's wearing protective gloves now. When he goes to work, that's got to be taken into consideration. You don't want him around a press or machinery where he might catch that glove and roll it up. It's got to be kind of, you know, adjusted by his treating doctor.

(Exhibit CL 8, p. 19-20, L. 15-1; R.E. Tab 8).

Neill's testimony was that he walked off the job. (R. Vol. 5., p. 47; R.E. Tab 5). Neill never made any attempt to locate or secure employment after he left Waterways. (R. Vol. 5, p. 48; R.E. Tab 5). Neill never applied for any job. (R. Vol. 5, p. 50; R.E. Tab 5). Neill took no effort whatsoever to ascertain whether he could find a job for which he was suitable. (R. Vol. 5, p. 48; R.E. Tab 5).

Legitimate questions exist whether Neill is willing to work. The vocational expert's amended report is also telling:

He is also markedly elevated on the symptom dependency scale, suggestive that he may be utilizing his current medical condition as

a means of eliciting sympathy and attention from loved ones. He is admitting to features which suggest that he enjoys attention that comes from being a patient. Interestingly, his preservation score was quite low. Low scores on this scale suggest lack of motivation necessary to face the challenges of a rigorous rehabilitation program.

(Dr. Kennon's supplemental report at page 5, Exhibit CL1 at 16; R.E. Tab 12).

In light of the conflicting testimony in the case sub judice, it is important to bear in mind this Court's standard of review. The Mississippi Supreme Court has established that "whenever the expert evidence is conflicting the court will affirm the Commission whether the award is for or against the claimant." Smith v. Durant Electric Corporation, 918 So. 2d 860, 863 (¶10) (Miss. Ct. App. 2005) (quoting Raytheon Aerospace Support Serv. v. Miller, 861 So. 2d 330, 336 (¶13) (Miss. 2003)). In Smith, the claimant argued that the circuit court erred in affirming the order of the Commission denying her an award for permanent full disability. Id. at 862. The claimant in Smith urged the Mississippi Court of Appeals to give greater weight to the testimony of one expert who testified that claimant was occupationally disabled. Id. at 863. In declining "to assign new weight to the various medical opinions present before the Commission," the court of appeals emphasized its limited standard of review and explained that "even were we to agree with [the claimant's] contention that Dr. Ramsey's medical opinion was the most credible . . . [the claimant] has failed to establish reversible error." Id.

In addition to the conflicting expert testimony, a host of undisputed facts that completely undercut Neill's contention that he is permanently disabled, including undisputed facts regarding carpal tunnel syndrome, hand eczema, and the work-relatedness of the injury.

### A) Carpal Tunnel Syndrome

One of the central issues in this workers' compensation proceeding was whether the conditions from which Neil suffers were caused by work-related injuries. Employee's

rheumatologist, Dr. Fuchs, concluded that Neill suffered from reflux-sympathetic-dystrophy (RSD). Dr. Fuchs opined that Neill's RSD caused his carpal tunnel syndrome. Significantly, Dr. Fuchs did not testify to a reasonable degree of medical certainty that the RSD was caused by work activities.

Dr. Fuchs' testimony not meet the evidentiary standard to prove causation. Dr. Fuchs testified that he could say with 100% certainty that it was impossible to state with any certainty what caused the syndrome. (Exhibit CL 5, p. 22-23, L. 20-1; R.E. Tab 7). He then went on to testify that there was a fifty-fifty chance that Neill's condition was work-related. (*Id.* at p. 23, L.1-8; R.E. Tab 7). Such testimony clearly does not establish that it was more probable than not that the condition was caused as a result of work-place activities. At the very best, such proof establishes that it is equally possible that the condition, if it existed, occurred as a result of factors complete unrelated to work.

Notwithstanding, the administrative law judge and the Full Commission gave Neill the benefit of the doubt by concluding that his bilateral, carpal-tunnel syndrome arose out of his employment.

#### B) Hand Eczema Condition

Bilateral, carpal-tunnel syndrome was but one of several conditions from which Neill suffered. Neill's testimony was very clear that the primary problem, which he currently has, is the dishydroticeczema or hand eczema. This condition, which affects both his hands and feet, existed before Neill had surgery for repetitive motion injuries.

Both employee and his wife testified that his primary problem was the blistering in connection with the hand eczema. Neill's testimony was that the overwhelming majority of his current problems are the result of the blistering on his palms. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 49-50; R.E. Tab 5).

He testified that his primary problem was the blistering of his left hand although he had some problems with his right hand. (R. Vol. 5, p. 53; R.E. Tab 5).

Mrs. Neill testified:

Question: "And the primary problem you have observed is blistering?

Answer: "Yuh, the blistering and the itching is really -- it gets frustrating, and I

have to get on to him about stretching it."

(R. Vol. 5, p. 62, L. 10-14; R.E. Tab 5).

Neill testified:

Question: "And is it your position that the reason you are not applying [for a job] is

because your left hand hurts so bad?"

Answer: "Yes, sir, my hand flame up."

Question: "All right. Let's -- let's talk about flame up for a minute so the court can

have some understanding."

Answer: "Yes, sir."

Question: "You're talking about a reaction or a blistering or something on your

hand?"

Answer: "It's not on the top of my hand, it's on the palm of my hand."

Question: "I'm sorry, on the palm of your hand?"

Answer: "Yes, sir."

Question: "And how often do you have that occurrence?"

Answer: "Well, it's -- right now it's just -- just depending on the weather and the --

it does not even go away. It just swell up and blisters. It just swell up and

blisters and will get worse and get better and then worse again."

(R. Vol. 5, pp. 48-49, L. 24-11; R.E. Tab 5).

Significantly, nothing connects with his current symptoms with his work injuries. Dr.

Fraser's opinion was that Neill's current symptomology was not related to bilateral carpal tunnel

syndrome. (Exhibit CL 3; R.E. Tab 13). Dr. Fraser also concluded that Neill's current or residual symptoms were not attributable to carpal tunnel syndrome. (Exhibit CL 3; R.E. Tab 13). Dr. Fraser stated: "I do not think his residual symptoms are attributable to carpal tunnel syndrome and I doubt that any surgical correctable problem is going to be identified." (Exhibit CL 3; R.E. Tab 13).

Dr. Mallette, Neill's treating allergist, concluded that he could not tie the current eczema with either workplace injury or surgery. (Exhibit CL 7, p. 13, L. 22; R.E. Tab 9). Dr. Mallette further unequivocally testified that he did not know what caused the hand eczema condition. (Exhibit CL 7, p. 9, L. 10; R.E. Tab 9).

Certainly, no physician, including Dr. Mallette, ever testified that Neill's employment caused this condition. Furthermore, Dr. Mallette's testimony was very clear that the current breakout of eczema is <u>not</u> triggered by the surgery or employment. (Exhibit CL 7, p. 14, L. 3; R.E. Tab 9).

"I do not feel at this time that this rash is related to the surgery." Mallette's deposition, (Exhibit CL 7 at page 9, L. 22-23 see Tab 9). Moreover, Dr. Mallette testified that this condition could be controlled with proper care. His testimony was:

Q. Is Mr. Neil [sic]still under your care?

A. Yes, sir. He still continues to have problems with now both hands instead of one hand, and it breaks out from time to time, but he can control it as long as he avoids things that irritates his hands with the steroid cream I gave him and he treats his itching with oral medication to control that. This rash can itch very intensely and can be very severe.

Mallette's deposition, Exhibit CL 7 at pages 8-9, L. 20-5 see Tab 9.

Dr. Kennon was the only expert who testified that Neill was totally and permanently disabled. He completely glossed over the fact that no medical doctor concluded the eczema

condition, which affected Neill's hands and feet, was caused or aggravated by work. Moreover, Dr. Kennon failed to take into consideration that he condition, regardless of its cause, could be

controlled.

There was no miscarriage of justice in this case. Beginning with the Administrative Law

Judge, there has been a careful sifting through the conflicting expert evidence. The opinion of

the experts as to cause of the carpel tunnel syndrome was contradictory. One said RSD caused it

and the other concluded repetitive motion caused the problem. The evidence conflicted as to

Neill's ability to work. Two medical doctors concluded that he could work, while Neill's

vocational expert testified that he could not do anything. Moreover, Neill failed to muster the

proof that either his current medical condition is attributable to work or could not be controlled if

he follows his physician's advice.

**CONCLUSION** 

For reasons stated herein, Waterway requests that this Court affirm the order of the Full Commission and the ruling of the administrative law judge.